# British Religion and the World Wars

# British Religion and the World Wars:

A Subject Bibliography of Modern Literature

By Clive Field

Cambridge Scholars Publishing



British Religion and the World Wars: A Subject Bibliography of Modern Literature

By Clive Field

This book first published 2019

Cambridge Scholars Publishing

Lady Stephenson Library, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE6 2PA, UK

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

Copyright © 2019 by Clive Field

All rights for this book reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior permission of the copyright owner.

ISBN (10): 1-5275-3349-2 ISBN (13): 978-1-5275-3349-3

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
First World War	
Overviews	
Comparative	
Great Britain	9
English localities	12
Wales	
Scotland	
Ireland	
Christian Denominations	
Church of England	
Free Churches: general	
Methodist Churches	
Baptists	
Congregationalists	
Unitarians	
Society of Friends	
Salvation Army	
Presbyterian Church of England	
Churches of Christ	
Brethren	
New Jerusalem Church	
Pentecostalism	
Presbyterian Church of Wales	
Scottish Presbyterians	
Latter-Day Saints	
Jehovah's Witnesses	
Millennialism	
Foreign churches	29
Roman Catholic Church: Great Britain	
Roman Catholic Church: Ireland	
Roman Catholic Church: Vatican relations	
Ecumenical relations	33

Judaism	34
Anglo-Jewry	34
Jewish military service	36
Anti-Semitism	39
Palestine and Zionism	41
Military Chaplaincy	
General	
Church of England: general	
Church of England: Geoffrey Anketell Studdert Kennedy	
("Woodbine Willie")	50
Free Churches: general	
Methodist Churches	
Baptists	53
Presbyterian Church of England	
Presbyterian Church of Wales	
Scottish Presbyterians	
Roman Catholic Church: Great Britain	
Roman Catholic Church: Ireland	58
Jewish	59
Other Themes	59
Combatants: clergy	
Combatants: laity	
Muslim and Sikh armed forces	61
Pacifism	
Welfare work	
Remembrance and memorialization	
Education	
Press	
Intellectual and cultural life	
Gender	
Christmas	
Supernatural and Spiritualism	
Freethought	
C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	
Second World War	
Overviews	79
Comparative	
Great Britain	
English localities	
Walas	

	Scotland	82
	Ireland	82
	Channel Islands (Occupied)	83
Ch	ristian Denominations	83
	Church of England: general	83
	Church of England: William Temple	
	Church of England: George Kennedy Allen Bell	91
	Free Churches: general	94
	Methodist Church	
	Baptists	96
	Congregationalists	96
	Unitarians	96
	Society of Friends	96
	Salvation Army	97
	Presbyterian Church of England	97
	Brethren	
	Scottish Presbyterians	
	Latter-Day Saints	
	Christadelphians	
	Foreign churches	
	Roman Catholic Church: general	
	Roman Catholic Church: Sword of the Spirit	
	Roman Catholic Church: Vatican relations	
	Ecumenical relations	
Juc	laism1	
	Anglo-Jewry	
	Jewish refugees	
	Jewish military service	
	Anti-Semitism	
	Responses to persecution and Holocaust: general	
	Responses to persecution and Holocaust: Jewish	
	Responses to persecution and Holocaust: Christian	20
	Palestine and Zionism	22
Mi	litary Chaplaincy1	
	General 1	
	Church of England	
	Methodist Church	
	Baptists and Congregationalists	
	Scottish Presbyterians 1	
	Roman Catholic Church	
	Jewish	

# Table of Contents

Other Themes	130
Winston Churchill and religion	130
Armed forces and religion	
Pacifism	133
Welfare work	133
Remembrance and memorialization	
Education	136
Broadcasting	139
Press	141
Intellectual and cultural life	141
Gender	145
Christmas	145
Supernatural and Spiritualism	145
Freethought	146
Index of Persons	147

# INTRODUCTION

In Great Britain, as in many other combatant nations, the recent centenary of the First World War and the upcoming eightieth anniversary of the Second World War have provided a strong impetus to academic research into all aspects of those conflicts, and this has been as true of their social, economic, and political dimensions as of their military course. The role of religion (broadly interpreted) during these wars, which has often been ignored in many of the more general British histories, presumably on the grounds that it had become increasingly irrelevant in a secularizing culture, has captured, to a surprising degree, the interest of scholars and writers from a variety of disciplines. This momentum shows little sign of slowing. As yet, however, there has been no systematic bibliographical audit of publications relating to the religious landscape of Britain in the First and Second World Wars. This slim volume is intended as a vade mecum for current and future historians, offering a *selective* listing, along subject lines, which will enable them quickly to ascertain much of what has been written to date (mostly to the end of 2018) and, by inference, to identify areas which have been under-researched and which lend themselves to further investigation.

# Scope

To contain the book within reasonable bounds, it has been necessary to impose certain limitations on the selection of references. Chronologically, the scope is confined to "modern" literature, loosely defined as appearing within the past half-century or so (from the 1960s to the present), albeit, in the case of the Second World War, some significant publications from the immediate post-war era have been included. Omitted, therefore, are items (often now obsolete, except for reminiscence or historiographical value) on the First World War appearing during the inter-war years, after which the religious output tailed off, until revitalized by, among others, Stuart Mews in his landmark MA and PhD theses (respectively written in 1967 and 1973). Geographically, the focus is on the British Isles, encompassing, for the First World War, England, Wales, Scotland, and an undivided Ireland and, for the Second World War, England, Wales, Scotland, and Northern Ireland (but not the Republic of Ireland). Subject coverage is wide but has been

2 Introduction

especially restricted for two topics, pacifism and conscientious objection and post-war remembrance and memorialization, where religious components, explicitly or implicitly, run through an extensive corpus. In terms of format, the emphasis has been upon printed books (specific page ranges being cited, where appropriate), book chapters, journal articles, and research theses. The bibliography thus excludes manuscripts, audio-visual materials, newspaper articles, and internet sites and blogs. Also omitted are dramatic or fictional works, or those designed for a juvenile audience. To be eligible for inclusion, items had to relate, in whole or substantial part, to the actual years of conflict (1914–18 or 1939–45). Although a majority of them are of a secondary nature, many editions of primary resources are also noted.

# Other Bibliographies

Readers desirous of extending their bibliographical enquiries can turn to various more general reference works. For the First World War, the principal bibliographies are: Cyril Bentham Falls, War Books: An Annotated Bibliography of Books about the Great War (new edition, with additional entries by Robert John Wyatt, London: Greenhill Books, 1989): Alfred George Sidney Enser, A Subject Bibliography of the First World War: Books in English, 1914–1987 ([second edition], Aldershot: Gower, 1990); and Jason Kovacs and Brian Osborne, A Bibliography: The Great War (1914–1918) (Halifax, NS: World Heritage Tourism Research Network, 2014). All three titles are international in coverage, as is the dynamic online bibliography maintained by the International Society for First World War Studies and available on its website. For Britain alone, there is Barry Wintour, Britain and the Great War, 1914–1918: A Subject Bibliography of Some Selected Aspects (Englefield Green: Greenengle Publishing, 2014). This can be supplemented, for individuals who served with the British forces, by Tom Donovan, In Memoriam: A Bibliography of the Personal Memorial Volumes of the Great War. 1914–1918 (Brighton: Tom Donovan) Editions, 2015). More global is Edward Lengel, World War 1 Memories: An Annotated Bibliography of Personal Accounts Published in English since 1919 (Lanham, MD: Scarecrow Press, 2004).

For the Second World War, there are fewer general bibliographies and none which is particularly up-to-date. The standard volumes are by Alfred George Sidney Enser, A Subject Bibliography of the Second World War: Books in English, 1939–1974 (London: André Deutsch, 1977) and A Subject Bibliography of the Second World War and Aftermath: Books in English, 1975–1987 (Aldershot: Gower, 1990). In connection with the American

Committee on the History of the Second World War, Arthur Layton Funk also produced a series of bibliographies of books published between 1966 and 1984. Confined to Britain alone is Antoine Capet, "Guide bibliographique", in La société anglaise en guerre, septembre 1939—août 1945: actes du colloque organisé à l'université de Rouen, les 13 et 14 décembre 1996, edited by Jean-Paul Pichardie (Rouen: Centre d'études en literature et civilisation de langue anglaise, Université de Rouen, 1997, 183—238). For a bibliography of religion on mainland Europe during the war, especially in the occupied territories, see Jan Bank with Lieve Gevers, Churches and Religion in the Second World War (London: Bloomsbury Academic, 2016, 575—91). On the Holocaust, see Jack R. Fischel and Susan M. Ortmann, The Holocaust and its Religious Impact: A Critical Assessment and Annotated Bibliography (Westport, CT: Praeger, 2004).

# Arrangement

So far as possible, subject headings have been standardized between the two sections, for the benefit of readers wishing to follow a theme across both conflicts. A handful of works appear in both sections, mostly with page references specific to each war. Where, in each section, an item is of relevance to more than one heading, it is listed under the primary heading, with a cross-reference added under one or more secondary headings. If the context of any entry seems unclear, a brief explanation has been added at the end, within square brackets. Composite indexes of personal names for authors and subjects are appended, the references therein being to item numbers and not to pages. The alphabetical filing principle throughout is letter-by-letter, rather than word-by-word. Surnames beginning with Mc should be read as Mac. In the main bibliography, multiple works by the same author are listed in ascending date order.

# **Emerging Themes**

It would naturally be impossible to distil the findings of over 1,200 publications into a summative assessment of the impact of the two World Wars on British religion. However, some emerging themes from the literature can be noted.

The traditional interpretation of the First World War was that the Churches had mostly nailed their colours too enthusiastically to the wartime mast and suffered long-term reputational and numerical damage as a consequence. However, recent revisionist scholarship has suggested that the negative effects of the First World War on organized religion chiefly arose,

4 Introduction

less from substantial loss of faith, than from the disruption by the war of the Churches' routine work and Sunday observance on the home front. Declines in church membership and attendance were continuations of pre-war trends. Nationalist rhetoric has been shown to be less pervasive than once thought, with an ecclesiastical peace testimony found to extend beyond Ouakerism. Roman Catholic attitudes to the war were complicated by papal neutrality and, in Ireland, by Irish republicanism, culminating in the Easter Rising (1916). A more positive view of the wartime performance of the Church of England has been expressed, notably in relation to its chaplains to the armed forces. There is an extensive literature on wartime military chaplaincy more generally, which, albeit on a proxy basis, has often illuminated the religious state of the fighting men. A very large number of the armed services comprised non-Christians, especially Muslim and Sikh imperial troops and British Jews. Wartime anti-Semitism was exacerbated by Germanophobia and Jewish support for the Russian Revolution (1917), while the campaign to establish a Jewish homeland in Palestine gained political momentum with the Balfour Declaration (1917). Among the population at large, wartime conditions were accompanied by increased belief in the supernatural and Spiritualism.

Notwithstanding extensive inter-war secularization, religion was a strong undercurrent to Britain's war effort during the Second World War. symbolized in the religious sense of the country's wartime leader, Winston Churchill. Government was not slow to exploit religion's value for propagandist, patriotic, and civilian morale purposes, to the extent of portraying the conflict as a defence of Christian civilization against the ranked forces of totalitarian evil. This position, only partially dented by the Anglo-Soviet Treaty (1942), allying Britain with an atheistical and religiously repressive regime, was largely shared by the Churches and reflected in the new brand of "BBC religion", which voiced a generic. accessible, communal, and practical Christianity. But it did not mean that the Churches were uncritical of the conduct of the war, for example over obliteration bombing of Germany, nor that they did not strive for peace. They also made an important contribution to the development of post-war internationalism, social order (especially through Archbishop William Temple), and educational provision (via the religious clauses of the Education Act 1944). The Moot was an important group of intellectuals thinking about the rebirth of Christendom. On the ground, as in the First World War, the work of the Churches was disrupted by wartime conditions. and they suffered losses in members and attenders. Judaism, in its various facets, dominated the wartime religious agenda and accounts for one-third of the references here. A resurgence of anti-Semitism in Britain was an

undoubted paradox during an anti-Nazi war, and there was a degree of ambivalence in the treatment of Jewish refugees and responses to the Holocaust – on the part of government, Christians, and Anglo-Jewry alike. Government was also preoccupied with the difficulties of administering the British mandate in Palestine, foreshadowing modern Middle East problems.

# Acknowledgements

A link to a much shorter draft of the section on the First World War was made available to the membership of the Religious Archives Group in February 2017, and several valuable comments were made in response. A draft of the section on the Second World War was circulated to delegates attending the symposium on "British Christianity and the Second World War" at Durham University in September 2017, and numerous suggestions were received. The author is grateful to all those who helped in these ways. But he is especially indebted to Professor Keith Robbins for readily agreeing to review the enlarged, rearranged, and consolidated bibliography and for preventing sundry omissions. Any remaining oversights or errors are the author's responsibility.

#### **Omissions and New Publications**

The author would be pleased to receive notification of any significant omissions and of new publications which might be considered for inclusion in a supplemental bibliography, at some future stage. They should be sent to c.d.field@bham.ac.uk

# FIRST WORLD WAR

#### **Overviews**

#### **Comparative**

- 1. Becker, Annette, "Faith, Ideologies, and the 'Cultures of War", in *A Companion to World War I*, edited by John Horne, Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell, 2010, 234–47.
- 2. Besier, Gerhard, ed., *Die protestantischen Kirchen Europa im Ersten Weltkrieg: ein Quellen- und Arbeitsbuch*, Göttingen: Vandenhoeck und Ruprecht, 1984, 282p. [contemporary documents]
- 3. Besier, Gerhard, "The Great War and Religion in Comparative Perspective: Why the Christian Culture of War Prevailed over Religiously-Motivated Pacifism in 1914", *Kirchliche Zeitgeschichte*, 28(1), 2015, 21–62.
- 4. Boniface, Xavier, *Histoire religieuse de la Grande Guerre*, [Paris]: Librairie Arthème Fayard, 2014, 494p.
- 5. Burleigh, Michael, Earthly Powers: Religion and Politics in Europe from the Enlightenment to the Great War, London: HarperCollins, 2005, 425–60.
- 6. Gamble, Richard Mark, "Was the First World War a War of Religion?", in *Remembering Armageddon: Religion and the First World War*, edited by Philip Jenkins, Waco, TX: ISR Books, 2014, 93–110.
- 7. Gregory, Adrian, "Beliefs and Religion", in *The Cambridge History of the First World War, Volume III: Civil Society*, edited by Jay Murray Winter, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014, 418–44, 678–9.

- 8. Gregory, Adrian, "The Great War in 1916: A Challenge to Faith?", in *Britain and the Widening War, 1915–1916: From Gallipoli to the Somme*, edited by Peter Liddle, Barnsley: Pen and Sword Military, 2016, 187–98.
- 9. Gregory, Adrian and Becker, Annette, "Religious Sites and Practices", in *Capital Cities at War: Paris, London, Berlin, 1914–1919, Volume 2: A Cultural History*, edited by Jay Murray Winter and Jean-Louis Robert, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007, 383–427.
- 10. Greschat, Martin, *Der Erste Weltkrieg und die Christenheit: ein globaler Überblick*, Stuttgart: Verlag W. Kohlhammer, 2014, 164p.
- 11. Hall, Douglas John, "The Great War' and the Theologians", in *The Twentieth Century: A Theological Overview*, edited by Gregory Baum, Maryknoll, NY: Orbis Books, 1999, 3–13.
- 12. Hoover, Arlie Jack, *God, Germany, and Britain in the Great War: A Study in Clerical Nationalism*, New York: Praeger, 1989, xii + 156p.
- 13. Jenkins, Philip, *The Great and Holy War: How World War I Changed Religion for Ever*, Oxford: Lion Books, 2014, ix + 438p.
- 14. Moses, John Anthony, "The British and German Churches and the Perception of War, 1908–1914", *War and Society*, 5(1), 1987, 23–44.
- 15. Porter, Patrick H. M., "Slaughter or Sacrifice? The Religious Rhetoric of Blood Sacrifice in the British and German Armies, 1914–1919", DPhil thesis, University of Oxford, 2005, 361p.
- Snape, Michael Francis, "The Great War", in *The Cambridge History of Christianity, Volume 9: World Christianities, c. 1914–c.* 2000, edited by David Hugh McLeod, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2006, 131–50.

See also 100, 347, 373–5, 472, 475, 484, 551, 565, 607.

#### Great Britain

- 17. Bailey, Charles Edward, "The British Protestant Theologians in the First World War: Germanophobia Unleashed", *Harvard Theological Review*, 77(2), 1984, 195–221.
- 18. Bell, Stuart Andrew, "Collapsing Class Barriers: Another Myth of the Trenches?", *Crucible*, April-June 2014, 35–42.
- 19. Bell, Stuart Andrew, *Faith in Conflict: The Impact of the Great War on the Faith of the People of Britain*, Solihull: Helion and Company, 2017, 240p.
- 20. Brierley, Michael William, "Review Article: Religion, Faith, and the First World War", *Modern Believing*, 59(4), 2018, 319–37.
- 21. Broom, John, *Fight the Good Fight: Voices of Faith from the First World War*, Barnsley: Pen and Sword Military, 2015, xiii + 226p.
- 22. Brown, Callum Graham, *Religion and Society in Twentieth-Century Britain*, Harlow: Pearson, 2006, 88–115.
- 23. Burleigh, Michael, "Religion and the Great War", in *A Part of History: Aspects of the British Experience of the First World War*, introduced by Michael Howard, London: Continuum, 2008, 74–81.
- 24. Chapman, Mark David, "Theology, Nationalism, and the First World War: Christian Ethics and the Constraints of Politics", *Studies in Christian Ethics*, 8(2), 1995, 13–34.
- 25. Chapman, Mark David, "Anglo-German Theological Relations during the First World War", *Journal for the History of Modern Theology*, 7(1), 2000, 109–26.
- 26. Chapman, Mark David, "English Theology in the First World War and its Aftermath", in *Life after Tragedy: Essays on Faith and the First World War Evoked by Geoffrey Studdert Kennedy*, edited by Michael William Brierley and Georgina Ann Byrne, Eugene, OR: Cascade Books, 2017, 179–94.

- 27. Chapman, Mark David, *Theology at War and Peace: English Theology and Germany in the First World War*, London: Routledge, 2017, vii + 174p.
- 28. Clark, Cecil Henry Douglas, *God within the Shadow: The Divine Hand in the First and Second Great Wars of the Twentieth Century*, London: Regency Press, 1970, 33–67.
- 29. Clements, Keith W., *We Will Remember*, London: Churches Together in Britain and Ireland, 2014, 111p.
- 30. Field, Clive Douglas, "Keeping the Spiritual Home Fires Burning: Religious Belonging in Britain during the First World War", *War and Society*, 33(4), 2014, 244–68.
- 31. Gregory, Adrian, *The Last Great War: British Society and the First World War*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2008, 152–86.
- 32. Harrison, Anne, "Hymnody and the Great War", *Hymn Society Bulletin*, 22(4), 2018, 134–52.
- 33. Hoover, Arlie Jack, "Waiting for Woodrow Wilson: Internationalism among the British Clergy in the Great War", *Canadian Review of Studies in Nationalism*, 20(1–2), 1993, 87–95.
- 34. Horswell, Mike, *The Rise and Fall of British Crusader Medievalism, c.* 1825–1945, London: Routledge, 2018, 113–36.
- 35. Inman, Daniel David, "Theologians, War, and the Universities: Early English Interpretations of the 'Manifesto of the Ninety-Three', 1914–15", *Journal for the History of Modern Theology*, 22(2), 2015, 168–89.
- 36. Lenz, Darin Duane, "Loyalty to Our Heavenly Country': British Christianity and the First World War", in *Remembering Armageddon: Religion and the First World War*, edited by Philip Jenkins, Waco, TX: ISR Books, 2014, 25–42.
- 37. Methuen, Charlotte, "'The Very Nerve of Faith is Touched': British Preaching during the Great War", in *Predigt im Ersten Weltkrieg la prédication durant la "Grande Guerre*", edited by Matthieu

- Arnold and Irene Dingel, Göttingen: Vandenhoeck und Ruprecht, 2017, 63-73.
- 38. Mews, Stuart Paul, "The Effects of the First World War on English Religious Life and Thought", MA thesis, University of Leeds, 1967, [6] + 329p.
- 39. Mews, Stuart Paul, "Religion and English Society in the First World War", PhD thesis, University of Cambridge, 1973, 351p.
- 40. Mews, Stuart Paul, "Urban Problems and Rural Solutions: Drink and Disestablishment in the First World War", in *The Church in Town and Countryside*, edited by Derek Baker, *Studies in Church History*, 16, Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1979, 449–76.
- 41. Robbins, Keith Gilbert, "Reconciliation? Democracy, Peacemaking, and the Churches in Britain in 1918/19", in *Glaube, Freiheit, Diktatur: Festschrift für Gerhard Besier zum 60. Geburtstag*, edited by Katarzyna Stoklosa and Andrea Strübind, Göttingen: Vandenhoeck und Ruprecht, 2007, 321–36.
- 42. Robbins, Keith Gilbert, *England, Ireland, Scotland, Wales: The Christian Church, 1900–2000*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008, 96–151.
- 43. Snape, Michael Francis, "The Bible, the British, and the First World War", *The Bible in Transmission*, Summer 2014, 17–20.
- 44. Snape, Michael Francis, "The Christian Churches and the Great War: England, Scotland, and Wales", *Revue d'histoire de l'église de France*, 102(1), 2016, 121–38.
- 45. Snape, Michael Francis, "Reconsidering British Religion and the First World War", in *Life after Tragedy: Essays on Faith and the First World War Evoked by Geoffrey Studdert Kennedy*, edited by Michael William Brierley and Georgina Ann Byrne, Eugene, OR: Cascade Books, 2017, 3–18.
- 46. Snape, Michael Francis and Parker, Stephen George, "Keeping Faith and Coping: Belief, Popular Religiosity, and the British People", in *The Great World War, 1914–45: Volume 2, The Peoples'*

- *Experience*, edited by Peter Liddle, John Bourne, and Ian Whitehead, London: HarperCollins, 2001, 397–420.
- 47. Williamson, Philip, "National Days of Prayer: The Churches, the State, and Public Worship in Britain, 1899–1957", *English Historical Review*, 128(2), 2013, 323–66.

See also 230.

# **English localities**

- 48. Bell, Stuart Andrew, "'Soldiers of Christ Arise': Religious Nationalism in the East Midlands during World War I", *Midland History*, 39(2), 2014, 219–35.
- 49. Bell, Stuart Andrew, "Faith in Conflict: A Study of British Experiences in the First World War with Particular Reference to the English Midlands", PhD thesis, University of Birmingham, 2016, 349p.
- 50. Glass, William Robert, "Transatlantic Fundamentalism: Southern Preachers in London's Pulpits during World War I", in *The US South* and Europe: Transatlantic Relations in the Nineteenth and Twentieth Centuries, edited by Cornelis A. van Minnen and Manfred Berg, Lexington, KY: University Press of Kentucky, 2013, 165–80.
- 51. Midgley, Patricia, *The Churches and the Working Classes: Leeds,* 1870–1920, Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing, 2012, 232–49.
- 52. Murcott, Peter, *While the War Was On: Manx Sermons and Addresses of the First World War*, revised [edition], Douglas: Primitive Preachers, 2014, 31p.
- 53. Owen, Janet, "The Churches in Hornsey and District during the First World War", *Hornsey Historical Society Bulletin*, 56, 2015, 8–22.
- 54. White, Bonnie, "War and the Home Front: Devon in the First World War, 1914–1918", PhD thesis, McMaster University, 2008, 247–301.

#### British Religion and the World Wars: A Subject Bibliography of Modern Literature

See also 9, 62–3, 65–7, 70, 77–8, 82, 84, 94–5, 102, 108–9, 111–12, 120, 122, 124, 131–2, 134, 136, 146–8, 156, 163, 168, 195–6, 199, 203–4, 207, 209, 211–12, 216, 232, 234–5, 237, 242–3, 250, 254, 256–8, 261, 274, 279, 288, 402, 438, 485, 517, 535, 541–4, 554.

#### Wales

- 55. Davies, Dewi Eirug, *Byddin y Brenin: Cymru a'i chrefydd yn y Rhyfel Mawr*, Swansea: Tŷ John Penry, 1988, 206p.
- 56. Hancock, Simon, "The Social Impact of the First World War in Pembrokeshire", PhD thesis, Cardiff University, 2015, 281–90.
- 57. Morgan, Dafydd Densil James, "'Christ and the War': Some Aspects of the Welsh Experience, 1914–18", *Journal of Welsh Religious History*, 5, 1997, 73–91.
- 58. Morgan, Dafydd Densil James, *The Span of the Cross: Christian Religion and Society in Wales*, 1914–2000, Cardiff: University of Wales Press, 1999, 41–77.

See also 42, 44, 113–14, 117–18, 132, 144–5, 149, 158, 180, 417, 419–20, 508, 549, 589–91.

#### Scotland

- Brown, Callum Graham, "Piety, Gender, and War in Scotland in the 1910s", in *Scotland and the Great War*, edited by Catriona M. M. Macdonald and Elaine W. McFarland, East Linton: Tuckwell Press, 1999, 173–91.
- 60. MacLeod, James Lachlan, "Greater Love Hath No Man than This': Scotland's Conflicting Religious Responses to Death in the Great War", *Scottish Historical Review*, 81(1), 2002, 70–96.
- 61. Matheson, Peter C., "Scottish War Sermons, 1914–1919", *Records of the Scottish Church History Society*, 17(3), 1971, 203–13.
- See also 42, 44, 96, 137–40, 142, 150–1, 171, 181–6, 205, 224–5, 241, 249, 421–8, 515, 547, 561, 578.

#### Ireland

See 42, 129, 215, 217–28, 447–57, 468–9, 503, 530.

#### **Christian Denominations**

## Church of England

- 62. Austin, Michael Ridgwell, ed., "Almost like a Dream": A Parish at War, 1914–19 Letters from the Front Published in the Parish Magazine of St Michael's, Derby, Whitchurch, Cardiff: Merton Priory Press, 1999, xli + 150p.
- 63. Austin, Michael Ridgwell, "Like a Swift Hurricane": People, Clergy, and Class in a Midlands Diocese, 1914–1919, Chesterfield: Merton Priory Press, 2014, 256p. [Diocese of Southwell]
- 64. Barbeau, Aimee E., "Christian Empire and National Crusade: The Rhetoric of Anglican Clergy in the First World War", *Anglican and Episcopal History*, 85(1), 2016, 24–62.
- 65. Barnes, John, *Ahead of his Age: Bishop Barnes of Birmingham*, London: Collins, 1979, 59–118.
- 66. Beaken, Robert William Frederick, "Wartime Religion in a Garrison Town: The Parish Churches of Colchester during the Great War, 1914–1918", MA thesis, Lambeth Palace, 2000, 8 + 234p.
- 67. Beaken, Robert William Frederick, *The Church of England and the Home Front, 1914–1918: Civilians, Soldiers, and Religion in Wartime Colchester*, Woodbridge: Boydell Press, 2015, xvi + 272p.
- 68. Bell, Stuart Andrew, "The Church and the First World War", in *God and War: The Church of England and Armed Conflict in the Twentieth Century*, edited by Stephen George Parker and Tom Lawson, Farnham: Ashgate, 2012, 33–59.
- 69. Bell, Stuart Andrew, "Malign or Maligned? Arthur Winnington-Ingram, Bishop of London, in the First World War", *Journal for the History of Modern Theology*, 20(1), 2013, 117–33.

- 70. Bickersteth, Ella, *The Bickersteth Diaries*, 1914–1918, edited by John Bickersteth, London: Leo Cooper, 1995, xx + 332p., reprinted, 1996, 1998, 2007.
- 71. Bontrager, Shannon Ty, "The Imagined Crusade: The Church of England and the Mythology of Nationalism and Christianity during the Great War", *Church History*, 71(4), 2002, 774–98.
- 72. Bray, Suzanne, "La Première Guerre Mondiale et la formation des prêtres anglicans", *Mélanges de science religieuse*, 67(2), 2010, 5–13.
- 73. Byrne, Georgina Ann, "Prophecy or Propaganda? Preaching in a Time of War", in *Life after Tragedy: Essays on Faith and the First World War Evoked by Geoffrey Studdert Kennedy*, edited by Michael William Brierley and Georgina Ann Byrne, Eugene, OR: Cascade Books, 2017, 97–115. [Geoffrey Anketell Studdert Kennedy, Arthur Foley Winnington-Ingram, and Agnes Maude Royden]
- 74. Chadwick, William Owen, *Hensley Henson: A Study in the Friction between Church and State*, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1983, reprinted, Norwich: Canterbury Press, 1994, 119–57.
- 75. Chandler, Michael, "Bishop Gore and the National Mission of Repentance and Hope", *Theology*, 83(4), 1980, 276–81. [Charles Gore, Bishop of Oxford]
- 76. Chapman, Mark David, "Missionaries, Modernism, and German Theology: Anglican Reactions to the Outbreak of War in 1914", *Journal for the History of Modern Theology*, 22(2), 2015, 151–67.
- 77. Clark, Andrew, Echoes of the Great War: The Diary of the Reverend Andrew Clark, 1914–1919, edited by James Edward Bradbury Munson, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1985, xxiii + 304p. [Great Leighs, Essex]
- 78. Clayton, Ann, *A Cheshire Parish at War: St Chad's, Over, Winsford,* 1914–1925, Liverpool: the author, 1998, [4] + 169 + [3]p.

- 79. Cline, Catherine Ann, "Ecumenism and Appeasement: The Bishops of the Church of England and the Treaty of Versailles", *Journal of Modern History*, 61(4), 1989, 683–703.
- 80. Cruickshank, Dan, "'Remember that in This Land There [Are] Two Kingdoms': The Church of England's Theology of Church and State in the First World War", *Kirchliche Zeitgeschichte*, 31(1), 2018, 131–45.
- 81. Dorsett, Mark Richard, "'National Mission'? Geoffrey Studdert Kennedy, Edward Lee Hicks, R. H. Tawney, and the Social Witness of the Church of England", in *Life after Tragedy: Essays on Faith and the First World War Evoked by Geoffrey Studdert Kennedy*, edited by Michael William Brierley and Georgina Ann Byrne, Eugene, OR: Cascade Books, 2017, 116–35.
- 82. Evans, Gillian Rosemary, *Edward Lee Hicks: Pacifist Bishop at War*, Oxford: Lion Books, 2014, 336p. [Bishop of Lincoln]
- 83. Fielden, Kevin Christopher, "The Church of England in the First World War", MA thesis, East Tennessee State University, 2005, 78p.
- 84. Hicks, Edward Lee, *The Diaries of Edward Lee Hicks, Bishop of Lincoln, 1910–1919*, edited by Graham Neville, Publications of the Lincoln Record Society, 82, Woodbridge: Boydell Press, 1993, xv + 287p.
- 85. Hughes, Michael John, *Archbishop Randall Davidson*, London: Routledge, 2018, vii + 230p. [Archbishop of Canterbury]
- 86. Kollar, Rene, "Prophecy, Anglicanism, and the Great War: The Archbishop of Canterbury and Joanna Southcott's Sealed Box", *Dutch Review of Church History*, 78(1), 1998, 94–112.
- 87. Lloyd, Roger Bradshaigh, *The Church of England, 1900–1965*, London: SCM Press, 1966, 214–38.
- 88. Madigan, Edward Thomas Maksymilian, "'Their Cross to Bear': The Church of England and Military Service during the First World War", *Annali di scienze religiose*, 8, 2015, 165–200.

- 89. Marrin, Albert, "The Church of England in the First World War", PhD thesis, Columbia University, 1968, 336p.
- 90. Marrin, Albert, *The Last Crusade: The Church of England in the First World War*, Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 1974, xv + 303p.
- 91. Mein, Andrew, "Bishops, Baby-Killers, and Broken Teeth: Psalm 58 and the Air War", *Journal of the Bible and its Reception*, 4(2), 2017, 207–23. [Church of England Convocation of Canterbury, 1917]
- 92. Mews, Stuart Paul, "Spiritual Mobilization in the First World War", *Theology*, 74(6), 1971, 258–64. [Arthur Foley Winnington-Ingram, Bishop of London]
- 93. Mews, Stuart Paul, "Clergymen, Gentlemen, and Men: World War I and the Requirements, Recruitment, and Training of the Anglican Ministry", in *The Pastor Bonus: Papers Read at the British-Dutch Colloquium at Utrecht, 18–21 September 2002*, edited by Theo Clemens and Wim Janse, *Dutch Review of Church History*, 83(1), 2003, 435–47.
- 94. Neville, Graham, *Radical Churchman: Edward Lee Hicks and the New Liberalism*, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1998, 246–67.
- 95. Platt, Jane, "Canon Simpson's War: The Rector of Caldbeck and his Community, 1914–1918", *Transactions of the Cumberland and Westmorland Antiquarian and Archaeological Society*, third series, 16, 2016, 95–109. [William Frederick Simpson]
- 96. Riggs, Wayne M., "The Ecclesiastical Response in Britain to World War I: A Study of the Church of England, the Church of Scotland, and the Roman Catholic Church", PhD thesis, Marquette University, 2008, [2] + v + 249p.
- 97. Robbins, Keith Gilbert, "Content and Context: The War Sermons of Herbert Hensley Henson (1863–1947)", in *War Sermons*, edited by Gilles Teulié and Laurence Lux-Sterritt, Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing, 2009, 188–206. [Dean of Durham]

- 98. Snape, Michael Francis, ed., "Archbishop Davidson's Visit to the Western Front, May 1916", in From the Reformation to the Permissive Society: A Miscellany in Celebration of the 400th Anniversary of Lambeth Palace Library, edited by Melanie Barber and Stephen John Charles Taylor, Church of England Record Society, 18, Woodbridge: Boydell Press, 2010, 455–520.
- 99. Snape, Michael Francis, "The Church at the Front: The Church of England and the British Soldier in the First World War", *Lambeth Palace Library Annual Review*, 2014, 86–114.
- 100. Snape, Michael Francis, "War and Peace", in *The Oxford History of Anglicanism, Volume IV: Global Western Anglicanism, c. 1910 to Present*, edited by Jeremy Morris, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2017, 214–42.
- 101. Snape, Michael Francis, "Anglicanism and Interventionism: Bishop Brent, the United States, and the British Empire in the First World War", *Journal of Ecclesiastical History*, 69(2), 2018, 300–25. [Charles Henry Brent]
- 102. Taylor, Brian, "The Cowley Fathers and the First World War", in *The Church and War*, edited by William J. Sheils, *Studies in Church History*, 20, Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1983, 383–90.
- 103. Thompson, David Michael, "War, the Nation, and the Kingdom of God: The Origins of the National Mission of Repentance and Hope, 1915–16", in *The Church and War*, edited by William J. Sheils, *Studies in Church History*, 20, Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1983, 337–50.
- 104. Thompson, Diane Y., "The Attitude of the Church of England to World War I", MA thesis, McGill University, 1968, xiii + 156p.
- 105. Thompson, Diane Y., "The Church of England Hierarchy and Problems of War and International Order, 1914–1945", PhD thesis, University of London (King's College London), 1977, 492p.
- 106. Waddell, Peter, "Guns, Gore, and God: Bishop Gore and the First World War", *Journal of Anglican Studies*, 15(1), 2017, 88–107. [Charles Gore, Bishop of Oxford]

107. Wilkinson, Alan, *The Church of England and the First World War*, London: SPCK, 1978, xiv + 370p., second edition, London: SCM Press, 1996, xii + 370p.

See also 40, 232, 350–97, 458–9, 463, 470, 487, 502, 506, 520, 532, 540, 554, 560, 583, 609.

### Free Churches: general

- 108. Binfield, John Clyde Goodfellow, "Et virtutem et musas: Mill Hill School and the Great War", in The Church and War, edited by William J. Sheils, Studies in Church History, 20, Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1983, 351–82.
- 109. Doyle, Barry M., "Religion, Politics, and Remembrance: A Free Church Community and its Great War Dead", in *War and Memory in the Twentieth Century*, edited by Martin Evans and Kenneth Lunn, Oxford: Berg, 1997, 223–38. [Norwich]
- 110. Koss, Stephen Edward, *Nonconformity in Modern British Politics*, London: B. T. Batsford, 1975, 125–44.
- 111. Lowe, Anne, *Hampstead Garden Suburb Free Church: The Great War Years, from the Archives*, Malvern: Aspect Design, 2014, 73p.
- 112. Mangan, James Anthony and Galligan, Frank, "Militarism, Drill, and Elementary Education: Birmingham Nonconformist Responses to Conformist Responses to the Teutonic Threat Prior to the Great War", *International Journal of the History of Sport*, 28(3–4), 2011, 568–603.
- 113. Matthews, Gethin, "'Un o ryfeloedd yr Arglwydd': eglwysi Anghydffurfiol Cymru a'r Rhyfel Mawr, 1914–1915", in *Creithiau: dylanwad y Rhyfel Mawr ar gymdeithas a diwylliant yng Nghymru*, edited by Gethin Matthews, Cardiff: Gwasg Prifysgol Cymru, 2016, 34–62. [Welsh Nonconformity]
- 114. Matthews, Gethin, "For Freedom and Justice': The Responses of Chapels in the Swansea Area to the First World War", *Welsh History Review*, 28(4), 2017, 676–710.

- 115. Mews, Stuart Paul, "Neo-Orthodoxy, Liberalism, and War: Karl Barth, P. T. Forsyth, and John Oman, 1914–18", in *Renaissance and Renewal in Christian History*, edited by Derek Baker, *Studies in Church History*, 14, Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1977, 361–75.
- 116. Murray, Derek Boyd, *High Calvinist Reactions to the First World War*, [no place]: United Board History Project, 2016, 31p.
- 117. Pope, Robert, "Christ and Caesar? Welsh Nonconformists and the State, 1914–1918", in *Wales and War: Society, Politics, and Religion in the Nineteenth and Twentieth Centuries*, edited by Matthew Cragoe and Chris Williams, Cardiff: University of Wales Press, 2007, 165–83.
- 118. Pope, Robert, "'Duw ar drai ar orwel pell': capeli Cymru a'r Rhyfel Mawr", *Y Traethodydd*, 169(711), 2014, 213–31. [Welsh Nonconformity]
- 119. Ruston, Alan Robert, "Protestant Nonconformist Attitudes towards the First World War", in *Protestant Nonconformity in the Twentieth Century*, edited by Alan Philip Frederick Sell and Anthony R. Cross, Carlisle: Paternoster Press, 2003, 240–63.
- 120. Wellings, Martin, "Oxford's Free Churches and the Outbreak of the Great War", *Proceedings of the Wesley Historical Society*, 60(4), 2016, 151–62.
- 121. Wilkinson, Alan, Dissent or Conform? War, Peace, and the English Churches, 1900–1945, London: SCM Press, 1986, 1–82.

See also 232, 398–405, 508, 517.

#### Methodist Churches

- 122. Appleby, Cedric J., "Marching as to War': Cornish Methodists and the 'Great War", *Journal of the Cornish Methodist Historical Association*, 8(4–5), 1994–95, 96, 101–7, 129–38.
- 123. Dews, David Colin, "To Fight or Not to Fight? The Primitive Methodist Dilemma", Wesley Historical Society (Yorkshire) Bulletin, 109, 2016, 13–25.

#### British Religion and the World Wars: A Subject Bibliography of Modern Literature

- 124. Goodridge, Jonathan Brooks, *Why am I in Paradise? A "Great War" Diary, J. B. Goodridge: A Story of People and Places in the Dove Valley and Ely Fenland, 1914–1918*, edited by Ernest Noel Goodridge, Loughborough: Teamprint, 1994, xxiv + 127p. [Wesleyan Methodism]
- 125. Hughes, Michael John, "British Methodists and the First World War", *Methodist History*, 41(1), 2002, 316–28.
- 126. Hughes, Michael John, Conscience and Conflict: Methodism, Peace, and War in the Twentieth Century, Peterborough: Epworth, 2008, 46–78.
- 127. Hughes, Michael John, *Blood and Guts: A Community at War*, Englesea Brook: Englesea Brook Chapel and Museum, 2014, 28p. [Primitive Methodism]
- 128. Hughes, Michael John, "Methodism and the Challenge of the First World War", *Proceedings of the Wesley Historical Society*, 60(1), 2015, 3–17.
- 129. Jeffery, Keith, "Irish Methodists and the First World War", *Bulletin of the Methodist Historical Society of Ireland*, 20, 2015, 5–29.
- 130. Johnson, Mel, "Primitive Parliamentarians, the Great War, and its Aftermath", *Proceedings of the Wesley Historical Society*, 59(4), 2014, 125–35. [Primitive Methodism]
- 131. Lessmann, Thomas, "Die Zerstörung einer erfolgreichen deutschen methodistischen Migrantenarbeit in London durch den Ersten Weltkrieg", *EmK Geschichte*, 39(1), 2018, 5–22. [German Methodist mission in London]
- 132. McCartney, Caitriona Mary Seonaid, "Wesleyan Methodist Sunday Schools during the First World War", *Proceedings of the Wesley Historical Society*, 61(3), 2017, 120–9.
- 133. Mews, Stuart Paul, "Methodism and the First World War", *Wesley Historical Society Bristol Branch Bulletin*, 71, 1995, 1–16.

- 134. Murcott, Peter, At the Sharp End: The Trial and Imprisonment of the Revd George Tinsley Peet in 1918 under the Defence of the Realm Act 1914, Douglas: Primitive Preachers, 2017, 29p. [Wesleyan Methodism]
- 135. Pugsley, David Philip, "The Great War and Methodism: The Assimilation of Dissent?", MPhil thesis, University of Birmingham, 1995, [3] + vi + 199p.
- 136. Virgoe, Norma Christine, *A Church at War*, [Wymondham]: Wesley Historical Society East Anglia, 2011, 61p. [Chapel Field Road United Methodist Church, Norwich]

See also 6, 52, 406–11, 465, 486, 500, 504, 524.

## **Baptists**

- 137. Allison, Neil Edward, "Fighting the Good Fight: Changing Attitudes to War in the Twentieth Century", in *A Distinctive People: Aspects of the Witness of Baptists in Scotland in the Twentieth Century*, edited by Brian R. Talbot, Milton Keynes: Paternoster, 2014, 178–202.
- 138. Allison, Neil Edward, *Pastor A. C. Dixon, Helensburgh Baptist Church, and the Great War (1914–1919)*, Helensburgh: Helensburgh Baptist Church, 2014, 32p.
- 139. Allison, Neil Edward, "A Baptist View from the Trenches: Lockhart Landels Ireland (1887–1916)", *Baptist Quarterly*, 47(2), 2016, 76–85.
- 140. Brewer, Sandy Eleanor, "Faith, Family, and Remembrance: Relational Religion and the First World War Correspondence of Tom Curr and Christian Simpson", *Journal of Religious History, Literature, and Culture*, 4(1), 2018, 124–44.
- 141. Clements, Keith W., "Baptists and the Outbreak of the First World War", *Baptist Ouarterly*, 26(2), 1975, 74–92.
- 142. Henry, S. D., "Scottish Baptists and the First World War", *Baptist Quarterly*, 31(2), 1985, 52–65.